IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	
·	CASE: SC06-1387
COMPLAINANT,	
	TFB File No. 2005-00,557(2B)
Vs.	TFB File No. 2003-00,597(2B)
MONTGOMERY BLAIR SIBLEY,	
RESPONDENT.	

RESPONDENT'S SECOND AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

MONTGOMERY BLAIR SIBLEY

In Proper Per 50 West Montgomery Avenue, Suite B-4 Rockville, Maryland 20850 301-251-5200

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

I. Introduction

On August 5, 2002, after hearings stretching back two years to October 24, 2000, Judge Maxine Cohen Lando of the Florida Circuit Court for the 11th Judicial Circuit, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, entered an order in Case No.: 94-18177 FC 19 on child support directing Respondent to pay \$100,000 in back child support and thereafter \$4,000/month and giving Respondent until January 1, 2003, to purge that contempt or face incarceration.¹

Second, in another appeal, Florida Third District Court of Appeal Judges Cope, Gersten and Green entered an order sanctioning Respondent. It is from this order that the second count of the instant Complaint arises. Again, that order

A copy of that order is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Complaint in this matter. The order of August 5, 2002, was adopted *verbatim* by Judge Lando from a proposed order submitted by counsel for Barbara Sibley, the former wife in that action. Notwithstanding that Respondent had until **January 1, 2003,** to purge the contempt amount, at a hearing held on **November 22, 2002**, Judge Lando, without notice of her intent to incarcerate Respondent and refusing to allow Respondent to be fully heard, ordered Respondent to commenced a sentence of indefinite incarceration in the Miami-Dade County Department of Corrections which ultimately ran until February 7, 2003, for civil contempt due to failure to pay child support. Notably, Judge Lando had already issued her writ of bodily attachment the day <u>before</u> the hearing, apparently having already made up her mind to incarcerate Respondent prior to the hearing. A copy of that order is also attached as Exhibit "A" to the Complaint in this matter.

contains numerous misstatements of facts in order to arrive at its apparently preordained conclusion.

Thus, the <u>sole</u> facts upon which the instant Complaint rests are one circuit court order and one district court order.

II. BACKGROUND

Respondent's divorce action was commenced on August 12, 1994, by his Former Wife when she filed a petition for dissolution of marriage upon which a final judgment of dissolution was granted on September 20, 1994. On July 27, 2000, an "Emergency Motion for Temporary Primary Physical Residence of the Minor Children and To Allow Minor Children To Be Enrolled in Private Schools and Prohibiting the Removal of the Children to Washington D.C." After numerous delays, Judge Lando finally set for conclusion the hearing on the "Emergency Motion" for September 24, 25 and 26, 2001 – over 1½ years later. During that time, Respondent was only allowed to see his children for seven days.

In January, 2002, Respondent's Ex-Wife filed two motions for contempt relating to enforcement of the marital settlement agreement between the parties

² On December 15, 2001 – Five Hundred Six (506) days after the filing of the "Emergency Motion", Judge Lando <u>finally</u> entered her Order on Emergency Motion for Temporary Custody of the Minor children. Noteworthy is that the order entered by Judge Lando was <u>identical</u> to the proposed order submitted by Respondent's Ex-Wife's Counsel.

relating to child support.

On June 4, 5, 6, 7, 2002, Judge Lando held and then adjourned until July 1, 2002, the trial on the pending motions related to final child custody, support and modification of Respondent's obligations under the Marital Settlement Agreement.

At the conclusions of the hearings on July 1, 2002, Judge Lando – without making her intentions known on the record – ordered counsel to submit proposed orders and written closing arguments by July 19, 2002. A copy of the submission by Respondent's Ex-Wife's counsel are attached as Exhibit "A" to the Appendix.

On August 5, 2002, some <u>692</u> days after the commencement of the hearings which formed the basis for Judge Lando's rulings on the motion to transfer custody and contempt, Judge Lando signed Respondent's Ex-Wife's proposed order granting Respondent's Ex-Wife's motion for contempt. A copy of that order is attached as Exhibits "A" to the Complaint.³

Most conspicuously, a comparison of Exhibit "A" hereto and with Exhibit "A" of the Complaint reveal that they are <u>identical</u>: as such, it is plain that Judge Lando entered <u>verbatim</u>, the proposed order of Respondent's Ex-Wife's Counsel on the contempt motion.

Judge Lando adopted Respondent's Ex-Wife's counsel's findings *verbatim* and ordered Respondent (i) to pay \$100,000 for past due child support and (ii) remain current on his child support of \$4,000 per month. Next, Judge Lando found that the Respondent "at all times from May 2000 had the present financial ability to pay but willfully or intentionally failed and refused to do so and wilfully violated the Order of this Court." On August 27, 2002, Respondent filed his notice of appeal of the above orders. That appeal was been assigned Case No.: 3D02-2308 by the Third District Court of Appeal.

Notwithstanding that Respondent was given until **January 1, 2003**, to pay the ordered \$275,000, Judge Lando incarcerated Respondent for "indirect contempt" on **November 22, 2002**, upon her finding that Respondent "continues to 1) have the ability to pay the past due child support (of \$100,000), and 2) that he is willfully refusing to pay his child support obligation."⁴

The following day, November 23, 2003, Respondent filed a notice of appeal with the Florida Third District Court of Appeal of the November 22, 2002, Family Court order which was assigned Case No. 3D02-3171. On December 23, 2003, two judges of the Florida Third District Court of Appeals – Alan R. Schwartz and

⁴ Patently, this action by Judge Lando was to put the "squeeze" on Respondent given the pending Thanksgiving and Christmas holidays and his four year old son's upcoming December birthday.

Mario P. Goderich – entered the majority opinion in *Sibley v. Sibley*, Case No. 3D02-3171, 833 So.2d 847 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) affirming Respondent's incarceration "for indirect contempt," holding remarkably that (i) "the record shows substantial assets, although admittedly not in the purge amount, in his [Respondent's] own name" and (ii) Respondent "may command, simply by asking, the payment of the purge amount through his very wealthy father. . ."⁵

Subsequently, Respondent took another appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal which was assigned Case No.: 3D03-2083. The second count of the instant Complaint arises from a portion of the opinion in that matter. On November 12, 2004, Father made a motion for rehearing challenging the panel to cite even one case brought before it in which Father was deemed to have filed –either by the Court or Respondent – a frivolous, abusive or incomprehensible pleading.

In the dissenting opinion the Honorable Judge Cope, pointed out that the holding of the majority that Respondent's "very wealth father" can pay was issued by the majority based on the "tipsy coachman' doctrine, or 'right for the wrong reason' rule" for which there was <u>no</u> factual support in the record. Notably, though this appeal of Judge Lando's orders resulted in a *de facto* reversal of the conclusion that Respondent willfully failed to pay child support, the Florida Bar omits this appeal from its Complaint.

Notably, in denying the motion for rehearing, the panel was unable and/or refused to so do.

III. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

A. THE DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE HEARINGS

On November 22, 2002, Judge Lando – who apparently couldn't wait to report her premature incarceration of Petitioner to the Florida Bar – wrote a letter to the Florida Bar reporting her "finding" of contempt of Respondent – **five weeks** before the January 1, 2003, deadline to purge the terms of her August 5, 2002, order. As a result, the Florida Bar assigned that complaint TFB File No. 2005-00,557(2B) alleging failure to pay child support.⁶

The Second Count of the Complaint which alleges a violation of Rule 4-3.1 (Meritorious Claims) arose from the Complaint of Respondent's Former Wife's attorney filed with the Florida Bar in early December 2004 arising from the November 4, 2004 opinion in *Sibley v. Sibley*, 885 So.2d 980 (3rd DCA 2004) in

Delaying the matter apparently to allow the process to be the punishment – and with full knowledge that the State of Maryland would <u>not</u> admit Respondent to practice as long as there was a disciplinary proceeding pending in Florida – it was not until (i) November 5, 2005 when the Grievance Committee found probable cause and (ii) July 12, 2006, that the Florida Bar filed the instant complaint – a delay of One Thousand Three Hundred Twenty Eight (1,328) days from Judge Lando's contrived complaint to filing of the first count of the instant Complaint on TFB File No. 2005-00,557(2B).

which the Court found that Respondent was "a source of vexatious and meritless litigation." That matter was assigned TFB File No. 2003-00,597(2B).

B. THE LEON COUNTY REFEREE

Continuing the pattern of using the nuisances of procedure to inflict punishment through process prior to adjudication, Justice Lewis of this Court in an order dated July 27, 2006, referred the matter to the Circuit Court of Leon County for assignment of a Referee.⁸

On July 15, 2006, Respondent served and filed his Notice of Depositions Duces Tecum and of Production from Non-Parties" seeking the depositions of the judges who had issued the order upon which solely the Florida Bar sought discipline.

On September 15, 2006, Respondent filed his (i) Answers and Affirmative

Again, making the process the punishment, it was not until (i) December 1, 2005 that the Grievance Committee found probable cause and (ii) July 12, 2006, that the Florida Bar filed the instant complaint – a delay of Six Three Hundred Fifteen (615) days from the complaint to filing of the second count of the Complaint arising from TFB File No. 2003-00,597(2B).

⁸ This "assignment" was done without an *iota* of facts in the Complaint supporting venue in Leon County and was plainly incompetent under Rule 3-7.6(d).

⁹ Judges Gerald B. Cope, Jr., David M. Gersten, Melvia B. Green, Mario P. Goderich, of Third District Court of Appeal, Alan R. Schwartz, Former Judge Third District Court of Appeal and Maxine Cohen Lando, Judge, 11th Judicial

Defenses to the Complaint, (ii) his "First Omnibus Motion" seeking, *inter alia*, a change in venue and (iii) motion to compel production of documents previously requested from the Florida Bar.

On September 20, 2006, notwithstanding the pending motion to change venue, the Referee entered his order denying Respondent's "First Request for Issuance of Subpoenas Duces Tecum" seeking the depositions of the aforementioned judges. On September 26, 2006, Respondent promptly filed his "Motion to Re-Consider Order Denying Respondent's First Request for Issuance of Subpoena Duces Tecum".

On October 3, 2006, as the Florida Bar couldn't not raise a <u>single</u> argument in opposition to the motion to transfer venue and thus did not object, the Referee granted Respondent's motion to change venue to Miami-Dade County, the only permissible venue under Rule 37.6(d). Accordingly, this matter was improperly delayed seventy-five (75) days.

C. THE MIAMI-DADE COUNTY REFEREE

Pursuant to Justice Lewis' order of October 4, 2006, this matter was then transferred to Miami-Dade County. The appointment of the Honorable Orlando A. Prescott as the successor-Referee was made on October 11, 2006, by 11th Circuit

Circuit.

Chief Judge Farina. According to this Court's order of October 4th, the Referee was <u>ordered</u> to (i) conduct a case management conference within sixty (60) days, to wit, **December 10, 2006**, and (ii) to issue his Report by **April 9, 2007.**¹⁰

On September 1, 2006, the Florida Bar moved to strike Respondent's Affirmative Defenses. On December 15, 2006, without affording Respondent an opportunity to be heard in opposition, the Referee granted the motion and – commencing a pattern and practice of the Referee – signed the Florida Bar's proposed order **without** prior comment by Respondent on that order.

Eventually, the Referee set the requisite Case Management Conference to "establish a schedule for the proceedings" for January 23, 2007 – notably Forty Five (45) days <u>after</u> this Court's order requiring such a hearing by December 10, 2006. At the conclusion of the January 23, 2007, hearing, the Referee requested further briefing on Respondent's First Request for Issuance of Subpoenas Duces Tecum filed on September 16, 2006. Full briefing was accomplished by the parties and non-parties as ordered by February 15, 2007.

Either prior to or after the hearing on January 23rd, the Referee – despite asking the parties to submit an agreed-as-to-form order of his rulings at that hearing

Putting the initial resolution of this matter at One Thousand Six Hundred (1,600) days since the initial complaint by Judge Lando.

entered the Florida Bar's proposed orders: ! Denying Respondent's Motion to
 Compel production; ! Denying Respondent's Motion for More Definite Statement;
 and ! Granting the Florida Bar's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (though he denied the motion orally during the hearing).

After consultation between the parties, they submitted the agreed-as-to-form order which the Referee entered on January 29, 2007. Notably, accurately reflecting what transpired at the hearing, the Florida Bar's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was denied.¹¹

Of perhaps determinative status of this appeal, on **January 31, 2007**, Respondent filed his "Second Request for Issuance of Subpoenas Duces Tecum" seeking the deposition of Joanne E. Sargent, Counsel, Third District Court of Appeals.¹²

Hence, despite <u>this</u> Court's order requiring compliance with Rule 3-7.6(c) by **December 10, 2006**, as of **January 29, 2007**, the Referee had – in what should be an affront to this Court's authority – ignored without (i) giving explanation or (ii) seeking leave to delay his obligations to resolve the initial matters within the requisite Sixty (60) days.

¹² Her testimony was relevant to the matters at hand to demonstrate the open hostility of the Florida judiciary to Respondent and serve as a basis to impeach the various orders which were the sole accusations against Respondent made by "persons motivated by malice, vindictiveness, intolerance, prejudice, or jealousy". *Wolff v. McDonnell* 418 U.S. 539, 595 (1974) (Douglas, dissenting). A copy of the letter from Joanne E. Sargent which demonstrates the hostility and bias of the Third District Court of Appeals in support of that request is attached as Exhibit "B"

On March 27, 2007, the Referee in an *ex parte* communication contacted Mr. Min to request Mr. Min to draft a motion to the Florida Supreme Court to enlarge time to finish the Report due on April 9, 2007.¹³ Though specifically requested by Respondent to detail the nature of that *ex parte* discussion pursuant to *The Florida Bar v. Mason*, 334 So.2d 1,7 (Fla. 1976)¹⁴, the Referee refused to disclose the sum and substance of that *ex parte* communication.¹⁵

to the Appendix. Significantly, the Referee <u>never</u> troubled himself to rule upon this the Second Request and to this day it remains outstanding.

- Notably, on March 8, 2007, shepard of the Referee's obligations that the Florida Bar plainly sees its role, counsel for the Florida Bar wrote the Referee requesting an order to set a final hearing date. A copy of the March 8, 2007, letter from Barnaby Min is attached as Exhibit "C" to the Appendix. The Referee ignored this letter. On March 19, 2007, Mr. Min continued his secretarial duties for the Referee reminding him <u>again</u> that the Referee had failed to discharge this Court's order to set a final hearing. A copy of the March 19, 2007, letter from Barnaby Min is attached as Exhibit "D" to the Appendix. (Note that the date on the cover letter is wrong).
- "We are unimpressed with respondent's argument that the punishment is too severe, particularly in view of respondent's willful failure to disclose the *ex parte* communications after being asked to do so by opposing counsel." *Id.* at 7.
- Notably however, when contacted by Respondent making the same demand, Mr. Min stated "I was contacted by Judge Prescott's assistant to submit a proposed Motion for Enlargement of Time." *A priori* this is not an entirely accurate representation by Mr. Min as the substance of the *ex parte* communication obviously had to be quite a bit more than that as Mr. Min's draft *for the Referee* of the motion to enlarge time including the language as to the "good cause" for the delay. Therefore, the *ex parte* communication between the Referee and Mr. Min was necessarily quite a bit more than has been disclosed.

After receipt on March 28th by the Referee of Respondent's "Motion to Dismiss or, Alternatively, Respondent's Fourth Affidavit and Motion to Disqualify", the Referee in a <u>burst</u> of judicial attention without apparent forethought to this matter entered orders (i) clarifying his prior orders which had both **granted** <u>and</u> **denied** the Florida Bar's motion for summary judgment and (ii) denying Respondent First Request for Issuance of Subpoenas Duces Tecum¹⁶.

Additionally, on March 28th, the Referee entered a "Notice of Final Hearing" setting April 16, 2007, at 1:00 p.m. for the putative, out-of-time and void Final Hearing. A copy of that "Notice Setting Final Hearing" is attached to the Appendix as Exhibit "E" to the Appendix.¹⁷

Upon receipt of the "Notice for Final Hearing" on April 5, 2007, Respondent

¹⁶ Though, as noted above, <u>ignoring</u> Respondent Second Request for Issuance of Subpoenas Duces Tecum.

Notably, (i) there was <u>no</u> certificate of service on the "Notice", thereby violating the applicable rules and (ii) the envelope in which the order was sent did not contain any stamp and thus is of uncertain mailing date. Moreover, notwithstanding the Referee had faxed orders to Respondent on various occasions, the Referee decided it was appropriate to let Respondent – who lives in Maryland – know of the hearing date by U.S. mail. Additionally, the "Notice" failed to indicate the number of days for the hearing – not surprising as that issue was never raised or addressed at the January 23st status hearing and indeed was incapable of being resolved as Respondent still had discovery requests outstanding. Finally, the Referee never checked with Respondent as to his availability for that hearing on April 16th.

immediately made a motion to continue the trial for two weeks or, alternatively, appear by telephone hearing for the yet-to-be held requisite Case Management Conference. The basis for the continuation request of two weeks was that Respondent was (and still is) involved in a very-high profile case with issues both legal and of national security concerns the discharge of which required his professional attentions to his client in Washington, D.C., during the last two weeks of April.

Accordingly, on April 10, 2007¹⁸, the Referee made a factually unsupported motion to enlarge, seeking Forty-Five (45) days, to finish the matter – though the Referee did not believe it was necessary for him to explain how he did <u>not</u> have time to finish this matter though given notice on October 11, 2006, that he had to finish this matter by April 9, 2007.¹⁹ A copy of that motion is attached as Exhibit "G" to the Appendix. Significantly, in that motion the Referee makes conclusory factual statements that Respondent specifically challenges as to their validity.

On April 12, 2007, though having (i) failed to hold the requisite Case

On April 10th, Mr. Min again reminded the Referee that the April 9th deadline had come and gone, and suggested a motion for enlargement of time to file the Report might be politic. A copy of that April 9, 2007, letter is attached as Exhibit "F" to the Appendix.

¹⁹ This Court granted that motion gratuitously converting it to a motion to enlarge time without giving Respondent a chance to reply.

Management Conference, (ii) ignored this Court's April 9^h deadline to finish the final hearing and (iii) belatedly asked for and received a Forty Five (45) extension from this Court to finish the matter, the Referee <u>refused</u> Respondent's "Motion to Continue Final Hearing", for two weeks and refused to permit Respondent to appear by telephone pursuant to Florida Rules of Judicial Administration, Rule 2.071(c) on April 16th. A copy of that order is attached as Exhibit "H" to the Appendix.

On April 16, 2007, without permitting Respondent to appear by telephone, the Referee conducted and concluded this matter at an *ex parte* hearing with Mr. Min thereby trying Respondent *in absentia*. Respondent, due to the nature of his professional obligations, was unable to attend without abandoning his professional obligations to his client in Washington, D.C.

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