IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case No. SC06-1387

Complainant,

v.

MONTGOMERY BLAIR SIBLEY,

Respondent.

The Florida Bar File Nos. 2003-00,597(2B) and 2005-00,557(2B)

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

BARNABY LEE MIN Bar Counsel - TFB #385719 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN Staff Counsel - TFB #200999 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director - TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Due process requires that attorneys in disciplinary proceedings have notice of the discipline sought, ample time for preparation, and opportunity to be heard. As the Respondent in the case at bar was notified of the discipline being sought and had the opportunity to prepare a defense, but voluntarily failed to participate in the final hearing, there has been no due process violation. Additionally, as disciplinary proceedings are neither civil nor criminal proceedings, but quasi-judicial proceedings, the Respondent is not entitled to the same rights in which defendants in criminal proceedings are entitled.

Further, as the Referee's factual findings and recommendations are supported by competent, substantial evidence, there have been no substantial due process violations and this Court should approve the Referee's findings.

ARGUMENT

THE RESPONDENT WAS AFFORDED PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS IN THE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS. (Restated to include response to the Respondent's argument II).

Attorneys are entitled to procedural due process in disciplinary proceedings. See The Florida Bar v. Committee, 916 So. 2d 741, 745 (Fla. 2005) citing The Florida Bar v. Rubin, 709 So. 2d 1361, 1363 (Fla. 1998). This Court has stated in The Florida Bar v. Carricarte, 733 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1999) that due process requires that attorneys in disciplinary proceedings have notice of the discipline sought, ample time for preparation, and an opportunity to be heard. See id. at 979.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Daniel</u>, 626 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 1993), the attorney alleged there was a due process violation because the referee recommended payment of costs without allowing the attorney the opportunity to challenge or refute the costs. <u>See id</u>. at 182. This Court found the attorney's argument meritless as the attorney voluntarily excused himself from the hearing and voluntarily failed to present any evidence concerning the costs. <u>See id</u>. Accordingly, because the attorney was afforded the opportunity to be heard but voluntarily chose not to take advantage of that opportunity, this Court found there was no due process violation. <u>See id</u>. at 183.

In the case at bar, there has been no due process violation as the Respondent was notified of the discipline sought by The Florida Bar on or about July 14, 2006

when the complaint was filed in the Supreme Court. Further, the Respondent had ample time to prepare a defense in the matter as the final hearing was not conducted until April 16, 2007. Finally, the Respondent was given the opportunity to present any evidence he wished at the final hearing as he was noticed of the final hearing but he voluntarily failed to participate in the proceedings or introduce any evidence. There has, therefore, been no due process violation.

In his Second Amended Initial Brief, the Respondent argues that Rule 3-7.6(f)(1) of the Rules of Discipline is unconstitutional because it fails to afford the Respondent due process rights.¹ Specifically, the Respondent argues that disciplinary proceedings should be treated like criminal proceedings rather than quasi-judicial administrative proceedings.

This Court has consistently stated that disciplinary proceedings are neither criminal nor civil proceedings but rather are quasi-judicial proceedings. See The Florida Bar v. Tobkin, 944 So. 2d 219, 224 (Fla. 2006). See also R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6(f)(1). Such a characterization is not unconstitutional as this Court has "exclusive jurisdiction to regulate the admission of persons to the practice of law and the discipline of persons admitted." Art. V, § 15, Fla. Const. Further, the practice of law is not an absolute right, but rather a privilege granted by the

¹ In his Second Amended Initial Brief, the Respondent incorrectly identifies the Rule as Rule 3-7.7(f)(1). Rule 3-7.7(f) of the Rules of Discipline concerns the application of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure in these proceedings.

Supreme Court. <u>See Holland v. Flourney</u>, 195 So. 138, 141 (Fla. 1940). Accordingly, as this Court has exclusive jurisdiction, this Court can dictate the manner in which disciplinary proceedings can occur. <u>See generally Fla. Bar re Advisory Opinion</u>, 398 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 1981) ("Neither the legislature nor the governor can control what is purely a judicial function.")

The Respondent next argues in his Second Amended Initial Brief that he had speedy trial rights in his disciplinary proceedings which were violated. There are no speedy trial rights in disciplinary proceedings. Specifically, as previously argued, because disciplinary proceedings are neither criminal nor civil proceedings, but quasi-judicial administrative proceedings, the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution does not apply. The only "speedy trial" right the Respondent has is governed by this Court's requirement that the referee's report be filed within 180 days of appointment unless there are substantial reasons for delay. Further, the 180 days is not even a speedy trial right, but rather, a time line imposed by this Court.

Additionally, had there been an unreasonable delay in the disciplinary proceedings, that is a mitigating factor that is considered in determining the appropriate discipline. See Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(i). The Respondent, however, voluntarily failed to appear at the final hearing and failed to present any evidence of mitigation, including any mitigation about an unreasonable

delay. Accordingly, the Referee correctly found that no mitigating factors applied. (Appendix A). ²

The Respondent next argues that the Referee erred by not allowing the Respondent to call witnesses at the final hearing. Specifically, the Respondent argues that he was not allowed to cross-examine any of the complaining witnesses and was also not allowed to call any witnesses on his behalf.

There is no right to cross-examine witnesses in disciplinary proceedings. In The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986), this Court stated that because disciplinary proceedings are neither criminal nor civil but quasi-judicial administrative proceedings, the technical rules of evidence do not apply. See id. at 898. This Court further stated that "hearsay is admissible and there is no right to confront witnesses face to face." Id. (citations omitted). Accordingly, the hearsay evidence that was presented was admissible and the Respondent had no right to request the opportunity to cross-examine any witnesses.

In support of his argument that he was not allowed to call any witnesses to testify, the Respondent alleges that the Referee failed to issue subpoenas to various members of the judiciary. The Respondent, however, is not entitled to subpoena

Respondent's conduct.

² The Florida Bar proffers that had the Respondent appeared at the final hearing and presented any evidence of a delay, there still would be no mitigation. Specifically, Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.32(i) requires that the delay was not due to any substantial contribution from the Respondent. In the case at bar, the matter was delayed solely at the Respondent's requests and because of the

members of the judiciary to testify. Specifically, courts have consistently held that a member of the judiciary may not be compelled to testify regarding the motivations behind his or her judicial actions. See United States v. Morgan, 313 U.S. 409, 85 L. Ed. 1429, 61 S. Ct. 999 (1941); Fayerweather v. Ritch, 195 U.S. 276, 49 L. Ed. 193, 25 S. Ct. 58 (1904). While judges may be compelled to give testimony about facts within his or her knowledge, he or she cannot be compelled when the knowledge sought is related to some judicial action or decision. See Blair v. United States, 250 U.S. 273, 63 L. Ed. 979, 39 S. Ct. 468 (1919).

The essential line of demarcation appearing from the cases is that judicial and quasi-judicial officers may be compelled to testify only as to relevant matters of fact that do not probe into or compromise the mental processes employed in formulating the judgment in question. See the Morgan decisions, supra, [referring to Morgan v. United States, supra, and its predecessor cases]. Thus, even though a particular inquiry may be factually directed, it may still be objectionable if it invades upon an officials' good faith decision-marking prerogative.

Standard Packaging Corp. v. Curwood, Inc., 365 F. Supp. 134, 135 (N.D. Ill. 1973).

As the sole purpose for the Respondent's issuance of subpoenas was to have the witnesses explain their reasoning for issuing the orders and opinions that have previously been issued in his underlying child support case, the Respondent is not entitled to compel the testimony of the witnesses. The reasoning for the judicial decisions that were made is absolutely privileged.

The Respondent next argues that the Referee abused his discretion in denying the Respondent's request for a continuance, thereby violating the Respondent's procedural due process. As the Respondent properly concedes in his Second Amended Initial Brief, a referee in a disciplinary proceeding has discretion in denying a request for a continuance. See The Florida Bar v. Kandekore, 766 So. 2d 1004, 1006 (Fla. 2000). In Kandekore, this Court found there was no due process violation because the referee acted within his discretion in denying the attorney's "eleventh hour" request for a continuance. Id. Like the attorney in Kandekore, the Respondent filed his motion to continue at the "eleventh hour" in the case at bar. Specifically, the Notice of Final Hearing was sent out on March 28, 2007. (Appendix E). The Respondent, however, waited until April 11, 2007 to send out his Motion to Continue. See also The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So. 2d 1165, 1168 (Fla. 1986) (finding that there was no abuse of discretion in denying a motion for continuance when the attorney waited until the last minute to file his motion). Further, in his motion, the Respondent failed to state good cause for his continuance. Rather, the Respondent alleged that he had a scheduling conflict, but failed to state with any specificity what the scheduling conflict was. Further, the Respondent's Motion to Continue attempted to litigate issues that had already been resolved by the Referee. Specifically, the Respondent again moved to dismiss the complaint alleging a violation of the Respondent's speedy trial rights, rights which the Respondent is not entitled to in disciplinary proceedings. Accordingly, the Referee did not abuse his discretion in failing to grant a Motion for Continuance that stated no good cause.

The Respondent next argues that the Referee erred by not compelling production of documents. It is within the Referee's discretion to grant or deny a discovery motion. Cf. Orlowitz v. Orlowitz, 199 So. 2d 97, 98 (Fla. 1967). See also The Florida Bar v. Huggett, 626 So. 2d 1304 (Fla. 1991) withdrawn for other reasons September 23, 1993. In the case at bar, the Respondent requested all documents related to every instance when The Florida Bar disciplined an attorney for violating Rules 48.4(h) and 43.1 of the Rules of Discipline. The Respondent also requested all documents related to reports detailing the number of complaints processed by The Florida Bar for each of the last three years and all documents related to reports detailing the length of time to process said complaints. The Florida Bar objected to the discovery requests as overly broad, irrelevant, and unduly burdensome. Specifically, The Florida Bar alleged that the Respondent was engaging in a fishing expedition in violation of McCarty v. Schultz' Estate, 372 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979) since there was no substantial similarity between the discovery requested and the pending matter. Upon conclusion of argument of counsel and review of the pleadings, the Referee denied the Respondent's Motion to Compel finding the Respondent's requests were overbroad and irrelevant. (T. 1/23/07 at 48-49; Appendix F). The Respondent has failed to establish how the Referee abused his discretion in denying discovery requests that were overly broad and irrelevant.

The Respondent next alleges that the Referee erred when he struck the Respondent's affirmative defenses. On or about September 15, 2006, the Respondent filed his nineteen Affirmative Defenses. The Respondent alleged that the complaint failed to state a cause of action, the Respondent acted under duress, The Florida Bar had unclean hands, public policy prohibited discipline, the doctrine of laches applied, the matter was handled in the wrong venue, the Respondent's parental rights were in jeopardy, the Respondent had the right to access courts, discipline would violate the Respondent's First Amendment rights, discipline would violate the Respondent's Fifth Amendment rights, and discipline would violate the Respondent's Fourteenth Amendment rights. On or about October 26, 2006, The Florida Bar moved to strike the Respondent's affirmative defenses alleging that the defenses were not recognized by Rule 1.110(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure; the defenses, even if true, did not excuse the Respondent's misconduct; the Respondent failed to meet the elements of equitable estoppel; the Respondent failed to meet the elements of laches; discipline had nothing to do with the Respondent's parental rights or access to courts; and discipline would not violate any of the Respondent's constitutional rights. The Referee allowed both parties to argue the merits of The Florida Bar's Motion to Strike the Respondent's Affirmative Defenses at the case management conference on January 23, 2007. (T. 1/23/07 at 51-53). At that time, the Respondent clarified that the affirmative defenses he raised went to mitigation rather than excusing any misconduct the Respondent committed. (T. 1/23/07 at 52). Accordingly, the Referee correctly struck the Respondent's affirmative defenses. (Appendix F). See also The Florida Bar v. St. Louis, No. SC04-49, 2007 WL 1285836, at *13 (Fla. May 3, 2007).

Further, even if the Referee erred in striking the Respondent's affirmative defenses, the Respondent failed to prove them at the final hearing. "The party seeking to assert the affirmative defense has the burden of proof as to that defense." Ellingham v. Florida Dept. of Children and Family Services, 896 So. 2d 926, 927 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) citing Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Holmes, 646 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994). As the Respondent failed to present any evidence at the final hearing of this cause including any evidence concerning his affirmative defenses, the Respondent has failed to meet his burden of proof.

The Respondent next alleges that his procedural due process rights were violated because the Referee adopted the Report of Referee submitted by The Florida Bar. The Respondent is incorrect. At the conclusion of the final hearing, the Referee detailed his factual findings concerning the guilt of the Respondent.

(T. 4/16/07 at 28-31). The Referee further instructed The Florida Bar to submit a proposed Report of Referee with the factual findings the Referee had already made. Further, the Referee did not adopt The Florida Bar's report as The Florida Bar recommended that the Respondent be suspended for two years and, therefore, submitted a proposed report with a recommendation of a two year suspension. The Referee, however, drafted his own report and recommended that the Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for three years.

Additionally, this Court has previously addressed the issue of a Referee adopting proposed findings. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Barrett</u>, 897 So. 2d 1269 (Fla. 2005), the attorney challenged the referee's factual findings because they were an adoption of The Florida Bar's proposed findings. <u>See id.</u> at 1273. This Court found that there was no error as the record indicated that the referee made factual findings on the record which were reflected in the proposed report submitted to the referee. <u>See id.</u> at 1273-74. <u>See also The Florida Bar v. Cramer</u>, 678 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 1996) (holding that the referee did not err when it adopted proposed findings that had already been announced).

In the case at bar, the Referee indicated on the record that he found that the Respondent had violated Rules 4-8.4(h) and 4-3.1 by clear and convincing evidence. (T. 4/16/07 at 29-31). Because the Referee's findings are reflected on

the record and as the Report of Referee is in fact not a verbatim adoption of the proposed report submitted by The Florida Bar, there is no error.

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